

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA COASTAL WATER RESEARCH PROJECT AUTHORITY

THEMATIC RESEARCH PLAN

FOR

STORMWATER BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (BMPs)

Last revised May 2019

Table of Contents

Introduction1
Conceptual Model
Sources
Fates
BMP Mechanisms and Processes4
BMP Design Criteria4
Optimizing Long-Term BMP Performance Through Monitoring and Maintenance5
Optimizing Alternative Compliance Pathways (ACP) and Watershed Management Plans5
Effects
Research Directions
Pollutant Sources
Watershed Processes7
BMP Intervention
BMP Mechanisms and Processes
BMP Design Criteria9
Optimizing Long-Term BMP Performance Through Monitoring and Maintenance11
Optimizing Alternative Compliance Pathways and Watershed Management Plans12
Receiving Water Impacts and Stormwater Capture13
References

Introduction

Wet- and dry-weather runoff in Southern California poses a particularly vexing challenge for the water-quality management community. During both wet and dry weather, contaminants wash off the land from across hundreds of square miles of urban, industrial and agricultural landscapes. Discharge of this contaminated runoff into receiving waters has been linked to microbial contamination in recreational surface waters (Marsalek and Rochfort 2004), excess nutrient loading that can trigger harmful algal blooms (Grigas et al. 2015), and increased toxicity that degrades ecological condition (Sebastian et al. 2015). Numerous regulatory and management programs have been implemented to reduce contaminant loading and mitigate the impacts of runoff on downstream aquatic ecosystems and on human health. But the diffuse nature of runoff has complicated management efforts to pinpoint and eliminate non-point sources.

For decades, SCCWRP has been facilitating research aimed at characterizing, monitoring and tracking the spread of runoff contamination through aquatic environments, and documenting downstream ecological impacts in coastal marine environments and other habitats. Building off this scientific foundation, SCCWRP is now increasingly shifting its focus to developing and evaluating management strategies, tools and insights for improving runoff water quality – an area known as best management practices (BMPs). SCCWRP's research spans the two main types of stormwater BMPs: (1) Structural BMPs, which include detention, retention, and treatment systems designed to capture, treat, and recycle stormwater to minimize adverse impacts on receiving water bodies. A structural BMP may use a combination of various physical, chemical, and biological processes to accomplish its design objectives. (2) Non-structural BMPs, which include source control and other priority program management options such as street sweeping or public education. SCCWRP is working to build a foundational understanding of both structural and non-structural BMP processes. SCCWRP's goal is to help inform the design. implementation and ongoing maintenance of BMPs across southern California – and ultimately, optimally reduce both pollutant loading and total runoff volumes. Especially as southern California's environmental management community prepares to invest billions of dollars on BMPs to manage runoff in the coming decades, SCCWRP is committed to helping its member agencies understand how implementing a certain BMP or a combination of BMPs can be expected to influence receiving-water quality over the long-term (Hager et al. 2018). These insights are critical to turning contaminated runoff in southern California into a beneficial-use resource.

Conceptual Model

SCCWRP's conceptual model for the Stormwater BMPs research theme centers around building a scientific foundation for understanding the sources and fates of stormwater and non-stormwater runoff, then using these insights to inform the development of effective BMP intervention that attenuate runoff pollutant concentrations and loads and that ultimately help improve receiving-water conditions. In the conceptual model (Figure 1), SCCWRP has placed all of the research areas that make up this research theme into six major categories that are fall into three major tiers: (1) Sources (Hydrology; Pollutant Source); (2) Fate (Watershed Processes; BMP Intervention); and (2) Effects (Stormwater Capture; Receiving Water Responses). Like most

interdisciplinary research at SCCWRP, other SCCWRP research themes integrate within this conceptual model, including SCCWRP's Ecohydrology, Eutrophication, and Regional Monitoring research themes. Unlike these other research themes, however, this Stormwater BMPs research theme focuses on presenting all aspects of stormwater science and how they influence stormwater management.



Figure 1. SCCWRP's Stormwater BMPs research theme is driven by the need for improved, costeffective engineering solutions to address increasingly stringent regulations for stormwater discharge, as well as minimizing runoff impact on marine and fresh water bodies. Because of the progress that SCCWRP has made in the Sources and Effects tiers, SCCWRP is increasingly shifting its focus to the BMP Intervention area, which is broken into four sub-areas. The BMP interventions can be both structural and non-structural. The three major tiers of SCCWRP's conceptual model are sources, fate and effects, with BMP intervention a part of the fate tier.

Sources

Hydrology: Changes in urban hydrology is a function of multiple factors, including growth in urban population, land use changes, new development, and climate (McGrane 2016). Hydrologic characterization of an urbanized landscape helps estimate the amount of runoff, direction of flow path, flow velocity, and peak flow to be controlled using stormwater BMPs (Fletcher et al. 2015, Bell et al. 2016). Changes in flow – also termed hydromodification - can lead to detrimental environmental impacts, such as flooding, increased erosion, increased pollutant loading, or all of these combined. Thus, understanding and characterizing hydrologic processes as well as predicting future hydrologic regimes are key to appropriate BMP sizing and design to meet long-term management objectives. Part of this challenge is a lack of well-established methods for input parameters to predict changes in urban flows (such as effective impervious area), which are critical for estimating how much precipitation runs off versus soaks into the ground (more impervious surface = more runoff). Overlaid upon changing urban hydrology are shifts in precipitation patterns due to climate change, an added complexity that further complicates efforts to select appropriate sizing criteria to achieve optimized stormwater BMP designs.

Pollutant Sources: Quantifying pollutant sources is a fundamental piece of the stormwater conceptual model. Knowing which pollutants come from which sources is essential for determining where and when source control options are best applied. When source control is not an option, quantifying each pollutant source is critical for knowing not just where to apply BMPs for treating runoff from each source, but also for ensuring that BMP planning, selection and design specifications are optimized for treating each source efficiently and effectively. The challenge with quantifying sources in stormwater runoff is the vast number of non-point sources across watersheds and the highly variable nature of pollutant source contributions during wet weather. Unlike wastewater where flow and concentrations are relatively stable, stormwater flows and concentrations in southern California can change by orders of magnitude within a one-hour timespan. Thus, research in this area must focus on pollutant source tracking that addresses post-storm evidence of receiving water contamination. Additionally, research must focus on the ability to address not just traditional stormwater contaminants (e.g., solids, nutrients, metals, bacteria, pesticides), but also emerging contaminants not routinely monitored (e.g., new pesticides, pathogens, cyanotoxins, endocrine-disrupting hormones).

Fates

Watershed Processes: Watershed processes play an important role in the movement of stormwater and non-stormwater runoff from its source to a BMP, and then from a BMP to its receiving water. These watershed processes influence the timing, velocity and total volume of flow, as well as which pollutants are mobilized, sequestered, and/or transformed. All these variables can dramatically influence BMP location, sizing and design features. Watershed processes become particularly important as stormwater managers emphasize infiltration as

the preferred BMP method to reduce runoff flow and pollutant loading, while simultaneously storing runoff for later use, especially in a drought-prone region like southern California. Research in this portion of the conceptual model focuses on stormwater-groundwater interactions, as managers need to make informed decisions about what volume of runoff should be captured using infiltration BMPs without impacting the environmental flows necessary to maintain healthy biological communities in receiving streams and/or to determine what fraction of pollutant loading can be safely infiltrated without impacting groundwater quality.

BMP Intervention: BMP intervention is the focal point of SCCWRP's Stormwater BMPs research theme. Despite the importance of BMP intervention on the success of a stormwater management program, there is a surprising lack of scientific information on how structural BMPs work. This limits stormwater managers' ability to implement optimal strategies that ensure that the billions of dollars they will be investing over the next decades will result in improved water quality and restored beneficial uses. SCCWRP breaks this portion of the conceptual model into four sub-areas that encompass the different aspects of the stormwater BMP implementation program: (1) Mechanistic understanding of contaminants removal processes in stormwater BMPs; (2) Developing design criteria for stormwater BMPs; (3) Optimizing long-term BMP performance through monitoring and maintenance; and (4) Optimizing Alternative Compliance Pathways (ACP) and watershed management plans.

BMP Mechanisms and Processes

A structural BMP facilitates different physicochemical and biological processes to capture stormwater and remove contaminants. These processes include, but are not limited to, infiltration, sedimentation, filtration, sorption, ion-exchange, oxidation/reduction, biodegradation, and phytoremediation (Scholes et al. 2008). However, these mechanisms and processes are not well-understood and certainly not well-quantified within the context of BMPs. Research within this portion of the conceptual model aims to quantify the removal processes of various pollutants for different BMP treatment mechanisms. While multiple processes invariably operate simultaneously within a BMP, these processes are neither uniformly dominant in a specific BMP nor equal in terms of their efficacy for removing a specific contaminant. Relative ranking of these processes in terms of their effectiveness for removing different contaminants would greatly inform BMP screening/selection process when addressing a specific management challenge in a watershed.

BMP Design Criteria

Even when the mechanisms and processes within a BMP are well-understood, BMP solutions need to be tailored to local climate and geologic conditions. These local conditions are the drivers that force BMP design parameterization. This can only be accomplished by field-validating stormwater BMPs to understand all of the "real-life" factors that influence performance. Moreover, field validation needs to occur for both structural as well as non-structural stormwater BMPs. The research for this portion of the conceptual model culminates with development of robust decision support tools that facilitate selection of the appropriate BMP (or set of BMPs) for conditions at a specific geographical location and/or development project. However, this research is perpetually challenged by the vast number of treatment process and mechanism

combinations, multiplied by the nearly limitless number of environmental settings in which BMPs can be placed.

Optimizing Long-Term BMP Performance Through Monitoring and Maintenance

Success of a BMP implementation program greatly depends on controlled operation and proper maintenance for the different components of stormwater BMPs. Obtaining information on how well BMPs perform and how best to maintain them is best gleaned through prolonged field testing and validation. However, recent inventories of BMP monitoring data in California reveal a dramatic lack of performance data for many BMPs; data are especially lean if a manager wishes to focus on the BMP's specific environmental setting. The problem of insufficient guidance due to a lack of data is particularly pronounced for maintenance. Many BMP installations are rarely revisited after construction; thus, existing assumptions about their future performance are likely inaccurate. Equally challenging is the ability to demonstrate the effectiveness of non-structural BMPs. While less information is needed regarding engineering design, BMP performance and ongoing effectiveness still need to be monitored for non-structural BMPs, as these assessments ensure that programmatic actions are meeting the needs of watershed management programs.

Optimizing Alternative Compliance Pathways (ACP) and Watershed Management Plans

This portion of the conceptual model relates BMP investment to expected improvements in receiving water beneficial uses. Managers continually push for costefficiency in their BMP or BMP network implementation. Thus, research in this area focuses on a comprehensive framework that can compare different BMPs side by side to understand their relative estimated cost/benefit throughout their lifecycle.

Effects

Stormwater Capture: Many municipalities in California depend on imported water to meet increasing water demand due to population growth and land use changes. As regulations surrounding stormwater discharge become more stringent and access to external sources for importing water becomes less reliable and more competitive, urban stormwater is gaining traction as an alternative source of water supply among cities across California. To facilitate this intended beneficial use (e.g., non-potable use, indirect potable use, direct potable use), stormwater BMPs must be properly planned, designed, operated and maintained. Moreover, the link between stormwater infiltration (as opposed to surface runoff) has competing effects that integrate with the hydrology portion of the conceptual plan. Infiltrating stormwater can have positive effects on minimizing peak flows and reducing associated impacts such as erosion. However, infiltrating stormwater can also starve a stream of the stormwater volume and timing necessary to support healthy biological communities.

Receiving Water Responses: One of the primary goals of every watershed management plan is to protect, restore, and maintain receiving water beneficial uses, such as aquatic life. However, region-wide receiving water monitoring consistently demonstrates that aquatic life is widely impacted in urban streams (Mazor et al. 2016). This research area attempts to link BMPs to stream hydrology, chemistry, physical habitat, and aquatic life. In this way, managers can understand how stormwater management practices – such as implementing stormwater and non-stormwater BMPs – relate to receiving water responses. This critical link is perhaps the "holy grail" of runoff management. Once the link is established, stormwater managers can focus on implementing the most effective BMPs at the appropriate level of effort, establishing the value of all prior work.

Research Directions

As regulations such as total maximum daily loads (TMDL) and municipal separate storm sewer system (MS4) permits are developed to improve runoff water quality, environmental managers are turning to stormwater science to inform the most optimal paths forward. SCCWRP is building on decades of past work aimed at understanding the sources and fates of runoff to develop science-informed strategies and tools – especially stormwater BMPs – that optimally meet these current and future water-quality management challenges.

Pollutant Sources

Accomplishments

SCCWRP has been generating pollutant load information since the early 1970s for a variety of sources, including stormwater (SCCWRP 1973, Schafer et al. 1988, Cross et al. 1993, Schiff 1997, Ackerman and Schiff 2003). Over time, pollutant loads from stormwater have increased in response to a growing population and expansion of urban development. This led SCCWRP to complete a series of stormwater pollutant source-related research projects for a wide variety of contaminants, including suspended solids, nutrients, bacteria, trace metals, PAHs and pesticides. These studies developed pollutant source area concepts, such as event mean concentrations (EMCs) to identify the largest pollutant sources, as well as pollutograph monitoring that defined the factors influencing pollutant loading variability, such as build up-wash off, first flush vs. seasonal flush, and optimized stormwater pollutant and BMP monitoring designs (Schiff and Tiefenthaler 2011, Tiefenthaler et al. 2011, Tiefenthaler et al. 2008, Stein et al. 2006, Schiff and Sutula 2004, Leecaster et al. 2002, Schiff et al. 2016). These studies also have focused on source tracking and attribution for non-stormwater inputs, including inputs relative to other point sources (Ackerman et al. 2003, 2005).

Priorities for Future Research

Future research: Updating event mean concentrations for Southern California Land Uses

SCCWRP's previous research on pollutant sources has been foundational in southern California. The event mean concentrations (EMCs) developed by SCCWRP circa the year 2000 have been used in watershed modeling and Water Quality Planning documents by nearly every municipality in the region. However, this work is now more than 10 to 15 years old, and most stormwater managers expect that land use-associated concentrations have changed over time, especially as building codes (including stormwater management measures) have been updated. Also, ongoing

non-structural BMPs such as street sweeping, solid waste management (i.e., recycling), and public education have potentially altered land use pollutant loads. This research will repeat many of the studies conducted 15 years ago, generating pollutographs for a variety of pollutants from a range of land uses. In turn, these data will be used for assessing watershed-wide pollutant loads, prioritizing source areas for management measures, and estimating pollutant concentrations entering BMPs for treatment.

Watershed Processes

Accomplishments

For more than two decades, SCCWRP has been researching watershed processes as a precursor to developing effective watershed management strategies. To comprehend where BMP intervention would be most effective and efficient for minimizing human impacts, SCCWRP first needed to understand natural sources and cycles. To that end, SCCWRP invested in research on natural precipitation and climate variability (Ackerman and Schiff 2003, Ackerman and Weisberg 2003, Schiff et al. 2016), as well as natural sources and background levels of pollutants (Schiff and Tiefenthaler 2001, Stein and Yoon 2008, Yoon and Stein 2008, Howard et al. 2014, Griffith et al. 2010). Because accurate and precise models are the primary mechanism for assuring that BMP implementation strategies will ultimately be effective, SCCWRP led regional research into watershed model development, including testing, calibrating and validating the watershed models that are still in use today for long-term planning and decision-making (Ackerman et al. 2005, Ackerman and Weisberg 2006, Ackerman and Schiff 2003, Ackerman and Stein 2008a, Ackerman and Stein 2008b, Sengupta et al. 2018). Finally, SCCWRP investigated the many complex interactions in watershed processes, including interactions across different media (e.g., air-to-surface water, surface water-togroundwater). SCCWRP research showed that especially in highly urbanized locations like southern California, many stormwater contaminants originate from contaminants that are deposited on land from air during dry periods between storms (Lu et al. 2003, Lim et al. 2006, Sabin et al. 2006, Sabin et al. 2010). In fact, dry atmospheric deposition and subsequent washoff during storm events can make up most of the contaminant mass found in stormwater (Sabin et al. 2005), and this has not changed in many decades (Sabin and Schiff 2008).

Priorities for Future Research

Future research: Surface water-groundwater interactions

While SCCWRP has researched air-stormwater interactions more than perhaps anywhere else in the country, stormwater-groundwater interactions for BMPs remain largely a mystery. This is particularly problematic because many watershed managers emphasize stormwater infiltration as the preferred BMP for reducing volume and pollutant loads, and also storing water underground for future use, including human uses. Except for some isolated studies in southern California (Dallman and Spongberg 2011), the fate and transport of infiltrated stormwater in this region is not well-understood. Research in this area will focus on volumetric infiltration for multibenefit quantification, such as bolstering groundwater supplies or supplementing baseflow in streams, both of which have been lost as "hardened" urban land uses have decreased much of watersheds' natural perviousness. Equally important, contaminant transport into subsurface waters from infiltration BMPs will be a focal point of study, as this transport can alter groundwater quality significantly and complicate the multiple benefits promised with infiltration practices.

Future research: Updated watershed modeling

Since SCCWRP researchers first calibrated and validated watershed models for use in southern California in the early 2000s, member agencies and their consultants have been using these models for long-term watershed management planning. Now, as planning transitions to implementation, the limitations of the models are coming into sharp focus. Thus, future research in this area will focus on upgrading the watershed models currently in use and creating additional capabilities specific to needs that were unforeseen 15 years ago. These additional capabilities include updated process rate functions, re-evaluating boundary conditions with new data and technology, and incorporation of additional applications such as mechanistic BMP performance.

BMP Intervention

Accomplishments

SCCWRP has conducted multiple research projects focused on BMP performance assessments, including a comparison of pollutant concentration and load reduction among 12 different structural BMPs for over 100 different pollutants (Schiff and Brown 2015), treatment effectiveness of wetlands (Sutula et al. 2008), and low impact development (LID) BMPs (Peng et al. 2016), as well several structural BMPs focused on reducing aquatic toxicity (Brown and Bay 2005). In addition, SCCWRP has examined the effectiveness of non-structural BMPs, including public education, residential runoff irrigation reduction, and parking lot cleaning (MWDOC and IRWD 2006, Greenstein et al. 2004, Schiff et al. 2016). Finally, SCCWRP has completed multiple projects focused on BMP design, including differential treatment of pollutants sorbed to various size stormwater particles (Brown et al. 2013), optimized BMP placement within watersheds (Ackerman and Stein 2008), and evaluations of optimal design storm criteria for different storm sizes in different locations and climate conditions (Schiff et al. 2007).

Ongoing Research and Priorities for Future Research

BMP Mechanisms and Processes

Current project: Quantifying relative significance of various treatment processes in a BMP

Understanding the mechanisms of stormwater contaminant removal within a BMP is key to developing successful and reproducible contaminant BMP remediation strategies. Fate and transport of contaminants in a stormwater BMPs involves multiple processes, such as infiltration, sedimentation, filtration, sorption, ion-exchange, oxidation/reduction, biodegradation and phytoremediation, among others. These processes need to be balanced against competing physical factors, such as porosity, permeability and hydraulic conductivity. To properly select and design a BMP that is the most effective for a given contaminant or suite of contaminants, scientists and engineers must fully understand these processes in

the context of different climate, environmental, and biogeochemical factors (e.g., soil media type, natural and engineered colloids, microbes). This project is examining these processes under controlled laboratory conditions, where each of these processes (or combinations of processes) can be isolated and measured in detail.

Current project: Developing and testing novel BMP technology

Although stormwater regulation began in earnest during the 1990s, BMP technologies to address these regulations are still in the early stages of development. However, stormwater BMP technology is evolving rapidly. For example, the paradigm shift to green infrastructure (i.e., low-impact development, or LID) has gained most of its momentum in just the past decade. As stormwater practitioners and managers work to overcome seemingly insurmountable water-quality treatment hurdles, promising new technologies are emerging. SCCWRP is evaluating the performance of these new technologies, especially as it pertains to their stated promise of improved treatment with longer lifespans at lower costs. SCCWRP is particularly interested in testing new technologies developed – both in house and by others – that are environmentally sustainable, deliver predictable and consistent pollutant reduction, and provide attractive *in-situ* regeneration or retrofit techniques. One such example is biochar, an emerging new biofilter media, which appears to sorb pollutants better than currently used biofilter media, and also offers improved permeability and lifespan.

Future research: Investigating effects of design factors on treatment performance

Most BMP designs that have been implemented in southern California for pollutant reduction have been focused almost entirely on volume capture. This is not a flaw in the current design manuals, but rather a reflection of the incomplete knowledge on BMP mechanisms and processes for contaminant removal (see previous project). The aim of this research project is to optimize the relevant design attributes (e.g., infiltration rates, filter media types and properties, plant pallet) and establish consensus on the best BMP configuration(s) for pollutant treatment as well as volume reduction.

BMP Design Criteria

Current project: Evaluating field performance of structural BMPs

Nothing can mimic real life and, while mechanisms and processes are best quantified using controlled laboratory studies, field-scale BMP performance measurements are essential to evaluating performance of structural BMPs. This project is focusing on quantifying BMP performance data in field deployments to validate laboratory tests and ensure BMP planning and specifications meet predicted outcomes. Field validation of BMP designs is challenging because differences between predictions and real life can be attributed to many factors, including variability in hydraulic and/or pollutant loading rates, durations of BMP evaluation, BMP footprint, and specific site conditions (e.g., soil type, depth of groundwater table, climatic factors), and proper installation. These challenges are in addition to traditional stormwater monitoring hurdles (e.g., large swings in precipitation, orders of magnitude ranges in water quality during a storm event, and technology limits for monitoring flow). Thus, compiling results from many storm events as measured by SCCWRP or others is essential in refining and validating BMP design specifications. Ultimately, managers need confidence that implementing BMPs will achieve their watershed management goals.

Future research: Developing site-specific design criteria

Stormwater BMP designs tailored to local needs and conditions ensure costeffective BMP intervention. Fundamental understanding of BMP processes and field-scale testing of BMP performances lay out the foundation for developing a BMP design tool based on site conditions and constraints. Once scientists and engineers have the information on how to optimize BMP design for pollutant reduction and how a specific BMP performs at a specific site (i.e., site conditions, climate), a tool can be developed to quickly translate which design attributes should be used for different pollutants or combination of pollutants. Such decision support systems may include a flowchart or algorithm where managers can input design objectives, site conditions, and historical pre-construction monitoring data to obtain a list of candidates BMP(s) with respectively optimized design attributes.

Future research: Evaluating field performance of non-structural BMPs

Virtually every watershed management plan in southern California relies upon non-structural BMPs to achieve some or all its long-term watershed management goals, including restoring and/or maintaining beneficial uses. Non-structural BMPs include source control (e.g., ordinances, commercial limitation), programmatic activities (e.g., street sweeping, inspections, enforcement), and public education. Despite the reliance on non-structural BMPs, little research has been conducted to quantify their effectiveness. Although much of this research has focused on street sweeping, ongoing monitoring of its effectiveness is nonexistent. Limited examples of source control also exist in the literature (e.g., removing lead from gasoline), but source identification studies for many pollutants in stormwater are generally lacking. Finally, the least amount of research has focused on public education and, even in cases where limited data exist, public education has not been very effective at changing public behavior toward improved water quality. The impacts of public education – in terms of its ability to improve discharge and receiving water quality – also are difficult to quantify. This research area will better quantify pollutant reductions associated with non-structural BMPs and provide recommendations for optimizing these activities.

Optimizing Long-Term BMP Performance Through Monitoring and Maintenance

Future research: Establishing a BMP performance monitoring framework Although stormwater managers have prepared watershed management plans and implemented BMPs, there is an abysmal lack of BMP performance monitoring data to evaluate whether a BMP is performing up to its design goal and/or whether its effectiveness is being influenced by its age. This research project will focus on how to assess performance and monitoring program design. First, there is no standard to assess how well a BMP is performing. Percent reduction, effluent concentrations, and influent-effluent regressions are all approaches used in the literature, but stormwater practitioners have not agreed on the best standardized approach(es) for determining whether a BMP is "working." Not surprisingly, stormwater managers have developed a wide range of approaches for conducting post-construction BMP monitoring. SCCWRP's role in facilitating this science could be key to getting experts to agree on what appropriate metric(s) of BMP performance should be and how to design a model monitoring program for BMP performance. Since every stormwater management agency in southern California is dependent upon BMP performance information – whether they be a regulated or regulatory agency – a regional monitoring program could be the most effective and cost-efficient approach to achieving standardized monitoring for a large number of BMPs under a wide variety of watershed conditions.

Future research: Creating a data sharing platform for BMP monitoring data

Once scientists and engineers reach agreement on how to assess BMP performance, and a standardized monitoring program is created to make these assessment calculations, the next step is to compile and share this information across stormwater management agencies on a data-sharing platform. The platform will be exceptionally useful to practitioners that need to identify the best-performing BMPs in various settings. The platform's collaborative nature will facilitate a high degree of leveraging of data collection efforts. Information technology already exists for creating data portals that allow agencies to submit data, which are then automatically evaluated for quality assurance and seamlessly appended together. These data exploration and visualization tools can be accessed from any web browser, and users can input influent concentrations and estimate effluent concentrations on-the-fly with specified levels of confidence. These tools can be used in design, to verify watershed model parameters, and to estimate probability of achieving successful watershed management goals.

Future research: Understanding the effects of operation and maintenance practices on BMP performance

Stormwater practitioners agree that structural BMPs require maintenance to ensure they are operating at maximum performance. Typical maintenance events for structural BMPs can be categorized as inspection, routine maintenance, restoration, rehabilitation, and retrofit. However, the nature of these activities, required frequency, and cost of maintenance is likely to vary with the type of maintenance events and the type of BMPs concerned. Unfortunately, there are limitd resources established by scientific studies that quantify the benefits of these various maintenance activities and their frequency in terms of BMP effectiveness. Local conditions, management goals, and financial constraints pose further challenges for stormwater practitioners in developing an optimized maintenance protocol. SCCWRP is committed to conducting research on BMP maintenance while the majority of stormwater BMPs constructed in Southern California are still relatively new. The goal is to ultimately develop a guidance document that describes a BMP maintenance protocol optimized for southern California climate and associated management challenges. Such a document would include recommended maintenance activities and maintenance frequency for a wide range of BMPs, as well as minimum reporting parameters to internally track, schedule, and budget ongoing and future maintenance activities.

Optimizing Alternative Compliance Pathways and Watershed Management Plans

Future project: Ranking BMP options/arrangements for optimal effectiveness Watershed managers rarely rely on a single BMP to remedy water quality problems within their watershed. Instead, they typically opt for a combination or network of non-structural BMPs, large regional structural BMPs, and smaller distributed structural BMPs. The goal of this research area is to optimize how this network of BMPs can be implemented throughout a watershed to achieve watershed management goals. This research encompasses three main factors: BMP effectiveness and longevity, spatial BMP combinations, and BMP costs. BMP effectiveness and longevity were addressed previously (see the two research subthemes above). Thus, this research is focused on BMP placement using dynamic watershed models and updated, site-specific BMP performance information. Additionally, a second focus is on cost – specifically, full lifecycle costs – so that managers can realistically budget long-term capital improvement plans.

Future research: Developing a currency for water quality equivalency

Water quantity and quality trading is controversial, but it is a potential tool for stormwater managers to improve water quality. When building or retrofitting an onsite BMP is infeasible (i.e., no space, no infiltration, etc.) or inordinately expensive, implementation at an off-site BMP can help stormwater permittees attain runoff capture objectives, TMDL targets, or water-quality objectives. However, the trading framework for stormwater BMP implementation is illdefined and still in its infancy. SCCWRP is interested in developing the technical foundation for a trading market. Technical underpinnings yet to be resolved include developing the "currency" for trading, evaluating the "value" of different BMPs, and quantifying the associated risks and uncertainties with different trading scenarios. Although SCCWRP is known for its neutral role, SCCWRP is unlikely to become the water quality/quantity trading broker.

Receiving Water Impacts and Stormwater Capture

Accomplishments

For more than two decades, SCCWRP has been researching the role that stormwater discharges have on receiving water impacts. Receiving water impacts fall into three main types: marine habitat quality for aquatic life, freshwater habitat quality for aquatic life, and beach/recreational water quality for human health. All three types of receiving water impacts are addressed in detail within the <u>Bioassessment</u> and <u>Microbial Water Quality</u> research themes, so the focus here is on their relationship to stormwater management and their linkage to stormwater BMPs.

SCCWRP's stormwater research on marine habitat quality has produced a variety of stormwater plume tracking studies (Jones et al. 1996, Schiff et al. 2001, Nezlin et al. 2008) that have documented increased contaminant concentrations in both the water column and sediment (Schiff and Stevenson 1996, Zeng and Vista 1997), aquatic and sediment toxicity (Bay et al. 1996, Jirik et al. 1998, Skinner et al. 1999, Schiff et al. 2001, Bay et al. 1999, Bay et al. 1997), and alterations to biological communities (Bay and Schiff 1997, Schiff et al. 2000). Although these impacts appear worse in estuaries at the mouth of the region's most urbanized watersheds, the impacts have been slowly decreasing since 1998, perhaps because of urban stormwater management measures (Schiff et al. 2015).

Because stormwater impacts might be even worse in freshwater habitats than estuarine habitats, SCCWRP has facilitated regional stream assessments, which have illustrated that most streammiles in urban watersheds contain biological impacts (Mazor et al. 2016). SCCWRP has worked to identify the most significant stormwater stressors (May et al. 2015) and has developed tools for identifying these impacts (Schiff et al. 2015) helping to focus future management actions, such as implementation of BMPs.

SCCWRP research on bacterial receiving water quality has identified that the vast majority of swimmer warnings occurred near storm drains in dry weather, and that these warnings rapidly spread coast-wide following storm events (Noble et al. 2000, 2003). This led SCCWRP to focus on improving source tracking technology for microbial contamination (Boehm et al. 2013), including writing the State's Microbial Source Tracking Manual (Griffith et al. 2013) to help managers identify where management actions – such as improved source control and BMP implementation – are best applied. SCCWRP also has quantified the health risk of swimming at runoff-contaminated beaches (Arnold et al. 2013, Colford et al. 2012), including during wet weather (Arnold et al. 2017); this epidemiology work has enabled researchers to quantify the levels of microbes that BMPs need to reduce to protect human health (Soller et al. 2017).

Ongoing Research and Priorities for Future Research

Current project: Prioritizing flow capture BMPs to restore natural flow regimes

Restoration of natural flow regimes is an increasingly important component of

stormwater management programs. SCCWRP is applying flow-ecology principles to help local stormwater managers achieve appropriate flow regimes for maintaining healthy aquatic life using flow capture BMPs. Given that program managers must decide where to place flow capture BMPs, how much water to retain, and how to time releases back into the receiving streams, SCCWRP is applying the newly developed California Environmental Flows Framework to establish ecologically relevant flow targets for biologically sensitive stream reaches, and to help prioritize how to site and design flow-capture BMPs that can help meet those targets.

Future research: Quantifying effects of BMP intervention on changes in receiving water quality

Stormwater managers are planning to spend billions of dollars on BMP interventions to improve receiving water quality, yet case studies that directly link BMP interventions with improved receiving water quality are extremely rare. This research will establish the elusive link between BMP interventions and receiving water improvements. The lack of demonstrative case studies is at least partly due to the complexities of this linkage, including contributions from non-stormwater pollutant sources, multiple or cumulative stressors not addressed by the BMP intervention, or simply the scale of BMP effectiveness. These complexities are compounded by the large variability in stormwater flow and pollutant concentrations, which can mask real trends in receiving waters. Assessing direct cause-and-effect improvements from BMP interventions are further hindered by complicated ecological interactions, such as biological recruitment or succession. Thus, this project will require large, highresolution data sets to tease apart natural variability from receiving water change (signal-to-noise ratio). To help ensure receiving water changes can occur, the project will deploy BMP interventions that are aggressive relative to watershed area. One potential avenue for generating such data sets is SCCWRP-facilitated regional monitoring programs (Southern California Bight Regional Monitoring Program and Southern California Stormwater Monitoring Coalition Regional Watershed Monitoring Program), where hundreds of receiving water samples are collected per survey.

References

Ackerman, D., E.D. Stein. 2008. <u>Evaluating the effectiveness of best management practices</u> using dynamic modeling. Journal of Environmental Engineering 134:628-639.

Ackerman, D., E.D. Stein. 2008b. <u>Estimating the variability and confidence of land use and imperviousness relationships at a regional scale</u>. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 44:996-1008

Ackerman, D., S.B. Weisberg. 2006. Evaluating HSPF runoff and water quality predictions at multiple time and spatial scales. in: S.B. Weisberg, K. Miller (eds.), Southern California Coastal

Water Research Project 2005-06 Biennial Report pp. 293-303. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. Westminster, CA.

Ackerman, D., K.C. Schiff, S.B. Weisberg. 2005. <u>Evaluating HSPF in an arid, urbanized</u> watershed. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 41:477-486.

Ackerman, D., E.D. Stein, and K.C. Schiff. 2005. <u>Dry-season water quality in the San Gabriel</u> <u>River Watershed</u>. Bulletin of the Southern California Academy of Sciences 104:125-145.

Ackerman, D., S.B. Weisberg. 2003. <u>Relationship between rainfall and beach bacterial</u> concentrations on Santa Monica Bay beaches. Journal of Water and Health 1.2:85-89

Ackerman, D. and K. Schiff. 2003. <u>Modeling storm water mass emissions to the Southern</u> <u>California Bight</u>. Journal of the American Society of Civil Engineers 129:308-323.

Ackerman, D., K. Schiff, H. Trim, and M. Mullin. 2003. <u>Characterization of water quality in the</u> <u>Los Angeles River</u>. Bulletin of the Southern California Academy of Sciences 102:17-25.

Boehm, A.B., L.C. Van De Werfhorst, J.F. Griffith, P.A. Holden, J.A. Jay, O.C. Shanks, D. Wanga, S.B. Weisberg. 2013. <u>Performance of forty-one microbial source tracking methods: A</u> twenty-seven lab evaluation study. Water Research 47:6812-6828.

Arnold, B.F., K.C. Schiff, A. Ercumen, J. Benjamin-Chung, J.A. Steele, J.F. Griffith, S.J. Steinberg, P.D. Smith, C.D. McGee, R. Wilson, C. Nelsen, S.B. Weisberg, J.M. Colford Jr. 2017. <u>Acute Illness Among Surfers After Exposure to Seawater in Dry- and Wet-Weather Conditions</u>. American Journal of Epidemiology 186:866-875.

Arnold, B.F., K.C. Schiff, J.F. Griffith, J.S. Gruber, V. Yau, C.C. Wright, T.J. Wade, S. Burns, J.M. Hayes, C. McGee, M. Gold, Y. Cao, S.B. Weisberg, J.M. Colford Jr. 2013. <u>Swimmer illness</u> associated with marine water exposure and water quality indicators impact of widely used assumptions. Epidemiology 24:845-853.

Bay, S.M., B.H. Jones, K.C. Schiff. 1999. <u>Study of the impact of stormwater discharge on Santa</u> <u>Monica Bay</u>. Technical Report 317. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. Westminster, CA.

Bay, S.M., K.C. Schiff, D.J. Greenstein, L.L. Tiefenthaler. 1997. <u>Stormwater runoff effects on</u> <u>Santa Monica Bay: toxicity, sediment quality, and benthic community impacts</u>. Technical Report 300.

Bay, S. and K. Schiff. 1997. <u>Impacts of stormwater discharges on the nearshore environment of</u> <u>Santa Monica Bay</u>. pp 105-121 *in:* S. Weisberg and D. Hallock (eds.), Southern California Coastal Water Research Project 1996 Annual Report. Westminster, CA.

Bay, S.M., D.J. Greenstein, S.L. Lau, M.K. Stenstrom, C.G. Kelley. 1996. <u>Toxicity of dry</u> <u>weather flow from the Santa Monica Bay watershed</u>. *Bulletin of Southern California Academy of Sciences* 95:33-45. Bell, C. D., S. K. McMillan, Clinton, S.M., and Jefferson, A.J. 2016. <u>Hydrologic response to</u> stormwater control measures in urban watersheds. *Journal of Hydrology* **541**: 1488-1500.

Brown, J.S., E.D. Stein, D. Ackerman, J.H. Dorsey, J. Lyon, P.M. Carters. 2013. <u>Metals and</u> <u>bacteria partitioning to various size particles in Ballona Creek storm water runoff</u>. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 32:320-328.

Brown, J.S., S.M. Bay. 2005. <u>Assessment of best management practice (BMP) effectiveness</u>. Technical Report 461. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. Westminster, CA.

Colford Jr, J.M., K.C. Schiff, J.F. Griffith, V. Yau, B.F. Arnold, C.C. Wright, J.S. Gruber, T.J. Wade, S. Burns, J. Hayes, C. McGee, M. Gold, Y. Cao, R.T. Noble, R. Haugland, S.B. Weisberg. 2012. <u>Using rapid indicators for Enterococcus to assess the risk of illness after</u> exposure to urban runoff contaminated marine water. *Water Research* 46:2176-2186.

Dallman, S and M Spongberg. 2011. <u>Expanding local water supplies: Assessing the impacts of</u> <u>stormwater infiltration on groundwater quality</u>. Professional Geographer. DOI:10.1080/00330124.2011.600226

Fletcher, T. D., W. Shuster., Hunt, W.F., Ashley, R., Butler, D., Arthur, S., Trowsdale, S., Barraud, S., Bertrand-Krajewski, J. 2015. <u>SUDS, LID, BMPs, WSUD and more–The evolution</u> and application of terminology surrounding urban drainage. *Urban Water Journal* **12**(7): 525-542.

Cross, J., K. Schiff, and H. Schaffer. 1993. <u>Surface Runoff to the Southern California Bight</u>. pp. 19-28 *in:* J.N. Cross and C. Francisco (eds.), Southern California Coastal Water Research Project 1990-92 Annual Report. Long Beach, CA.

Greenstein, D.J., L.L. Tiefenthaler, S.M. Bay. 2004. <u>Toxicity of parking lot runoff after</u> <u>application of simulated rainfall</u>. *Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 47:199-206.

Griffith, J.F., B.A. Layton, A.B. Boehm, P.A. Holden, J.A. Jay, C. Hagedorn, C.D. McGee, S.B. Weisberg. 2013. <u>The California Microbial Source Identification Manual: A Tiered Approach to</u> <u>Identifying Fecal Pollution Sources to Beaches</u>. Technical Report 804. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. Costa Mesa, CA.

Griffith, J.F., K.C. Schiff, G.S. Lyon, J.A. Fuhrman. 2010. <u>Microbiological water quality at non-human influenced reference beaches in southern California during wet weather</u>. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 60:500-508.

Grigas, D., J. Lehrter., Cebrian, Y. Chen, B. Ehmen and M. Woodrey. 2015. <u>Effects of</u> <u>stormwater pipe size and rainfall on sediment and nutrients delivered to a coastal bayou</u>. *Water Environment Research* **87**(9): 796-804.

Hager, J., G. Hu. K. Hewage and R. Sadiq 2018. <u>Performance of low-impact development best</u> management practices: a critical review. *Environmental Reviews* 1-26.

Howard, M.D.A., M. Sutula, D.A. Caron, Y. Chao, J.D. Farrara, H. Frenzel, B. Jones, G. Robertson, K. McLaughlin, A. Sengupta. 2014. <u>Anthropogenic nutrient sources rival natural sources on small scales in the coastal waters of the Southern California Bight</u>. *Limnology and Oceanography* 59:285-297.

Jirik, A., S.M. Bay, D.J. Greenstein, A. Zellers, S.L. Lau. 1998. <u>Application of TIEs in studies of</u> <u>urban stormwater impacts on marine organisms</u>. in: E.E. Little, A.J. DeLonay, B.M. Greenberg (eds.), *Environmental Toxicology and Risk Assessment: Seventh Volume* pp. 284-298. American Society for Testing and Materials. West Conshohocken, PA.

Bay, S.M., K.C. Schiff. 1997. Impacts of stormwater discharges on the nearshore environment of Santa Monica Bay. in: S.B. Weisberg, C. Francisco, D. Hallock (eds.), Southern California Coastal Water Research Project 1996 Annual Report pp. 105-118. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. Westminster, CA.

Leecaster, M., K. Schiff, and L. Tiefenthaler. 2002. <u>Assessment of efficient sampling designs for</u> <u>urban stormwater monitoring</u>. *Water Research* 36:1556-1564.

Lu, R., R.P. Turco, K. Stolzenbach, S.K. Friedlander, C. Xiong, K.C. Schiff, L.L. Tiefenthaler, G. Wang. 2003. <u>Dry deposition of airborne trace metals on the Los Angeles basin and adjacent</u> coastal waters. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 108:11.1-11.24.

Marsalek, J. and Q. Rochfort (2004). <u>Urban wet-weather flows: sources of fecal contamination</u> <u>impacting on recreational waters and threatening drinking-water sources</u>. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A* **67**(20-22): 1765-1777.

May, J.T., L.R. Brown, A.C. Rehn, I.R. Waite, P.R. Ode, R.D. Mazor, K.C. Schiff. 2015. Correspondence of biological condition models of California streams at statewide and regional scales. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 187:4086.

Mazor, R.D., A.C. Rehn, P.R. Ode, M. Engeln, K.C. Schiff, E.D. Stein, D.J. Gillett, D.B. Herbst, C.P. Hawkins. 2016. <u>Bioassessment in complex environments: designing an index for consistent</u> meaning in different settings. *Freshwater Science* 35:249-271.

McGrane, S. J. (2016). <u>Impacts of urbanisation on hydrological and water quality dynamics, and</u> <u>urban water management: a review</u>. *Hydrological Sciences Journal* **61**(13): 2295-2311.

Scholes, L., D. M. Revitt, J.B. Ellis. 2008. <u>A systematic approach for the comparative</u> <u>assessment of stormwater pollutant removal potentials</u>. *Journal of environmental management* **88**(3): 467-478.

MWDOC and IRWD. 2016. <u>Residential Runoff Reduction Study</u>. Municipal Water District of Orange County and Irvine Ranch Water District.

Nezlin, N.P., P.M. DiGiacomo, D.W. Diehl, B.H. Jones, S.C. Johnson, M.J. Mengel, K.M. Reifel, J.A. Warrick, M. Wang. 2008. <u>Stormwater plume detection by MODIS imagery in the</u> <u>southern California coastal ocean</u>. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 80:141-152.

Noble, R.T., S.B. Weisberg, M.K. Leecaster, C.D. McGee, J.H. Dorsey, P. Vainik, V. Orozco-Borbon. 2003. <u>Storm effects on regional beach water quality along the southern California</u> <u>shoreline</u>. *Journal of Water and Health* 1:23-31.

Noble, R.T., J.H. Dorsey, M. Leecaster, V. Orozco-Borbon, D. Reid, K.C. Schiff, S.B. Weisberg. 2000. <u>A regional survey of the microbiological water quality along the shoreline of the Southern</u> <u>California Bight</u>. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 64:435-447.

Peng, J., Y. Cao, M.A. Rippy, A.R.M.N. Afrooz, S.B. Grant. 2016. <u>Indicator and Pathogen</u> <u>Removal by Low Impact Development Best Management Practices</u>. *Water* 8:600.

Sabin, L.D., J.H. Lim, K.D. Stolzenbach, K.C. Schiff. 2005. <u>Contribution of trace metals from</u> <u>atmospheric deposition to stormwater runoff in a small impervious urban catchment</u>. *Water Research* 39:3929-3937.

Sabin, L.D., K.A. Maruya, W. Lao, D.W. Diehl, D. Tsukada, K.D. Stolzenbach, K.C. Schiff. 2010. Exchange of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons among the atmosphere, water, and sediment in coastal embayments of southern California, USA. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 29:265-274.

Sabin, L.D., J.H. Lim, M.T. Venezia, A.M. Winer, K.C. Schiff, K.D. Stolzenbach. 2006. Dry deposition and resuspension of particle-associated metals near a freeway in Los Angeles. *Atmospheric Environment* 40:7528-7538.

Sabin, L.D., J.H. Lim, K.D. Stolzenbach, K.C. Schiff. 2006. <u>Atmospheric dry deposition of trace</u> <u>metals in the coastal region of Los Angeles, California, USA</u>. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 25:2334-2341

Sabin, L.D., K.C. Schiff. 2008. <u>Dry atmospheric deposition rates of metals along a coastal</u> <u>transect in southern California</u>. *Atmospheric Environment* 42:6606-6613.

SCCWRP. 1973. <u>The ecology of the Southern California Bight: Implications for water quality</u> <u>management</u>. Technical Report 10. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. El Segundo, CA.

Schafer, H.A., R.W. Gossett. 1988. <u>Storm runoff in Los Angeles and Ventura Counties</u>. Technical Report 221. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. Long Beach, CA.

Schiff, KC, LL Tiefenthaler, SM Bay, DJ Greenstein. 2016. <u>Effects of Rainfall Intensity and</u> <u>Duration on the First Flush from Parking Lots</u>. *Water* 8(320): DOI: 10.3390/w808032.

Schiff, K.C., D.J. Greenstein, N. Dodder, D.J. Gillett. 2015. <u>Southern California Bight regional</u> <u>monitoring</u>. *Regional Studies in Marine Science* 4:34-46.

Schiff, K and J Brown. 2015. <u>Proposition 84 Grant Evaluation Report: Assessing Pollutant</u> <u>Reductions to Areas of Biological Significance</u>. Technical Report 858. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project Authority. Costa Mesa, CA. Schiff, K.C. and L. Tiefenthaler. 2011. <u>Seasonal flushing of pollutant concentrations and loads in</u> <u>urban stormwater</u>. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* 47:136-142.

Schiff, K.C., D. Ackerman, E. Strecker, M. Leisenring. 2007. <u>Concept development: design</u> <u>storm for water quality in the Los Angeles region</u>. Technical Report 520. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. Costa Mesa, CA.

Schiff, K. and M. Sutula. 2004. <u>Organophosphorus Pesticides in Stormwater Runoff from</u> <u>Southern California (USA)</u>. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 23:1815-1821.

Schiff, K.C., L.L. Tiefenthaler. 2001. <u>Anthropogenic versus natural mass emissions from an</u> <u>urban watershed</u>. in: S.B. Weisberg, D. Elmore (eds.), *Southern California Coastal Water Research Project 1999-2000 Annual Report* pp. 63-70. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. Westminster, CA.

Schiff, K.C., S.M. Bay, D.W. Diehl. 2001. <u>Stormwater toxicity in Chollas Creek and San Diego</u> <u>Bay</u>. Technical Report 340. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. Westminster, CA.

Schiff, K.C., M.J. Allen, E.Y. Zeng, S.M. Bay. 2000. <u>Southern California</u>. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 41:76-93.

Schiff, K.C. 1997. <u>Review of existing stormwater monitoring programs for estimating bight-</u> <u>wide mass emissions from urban runoff</u>. in: S.B. Weisberg, C. Francisco, D. Hallock (eds.), *Southern California Coastal Water Research Project 1996 Annual Report* pp. 44-55. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. Westminster, CA.

Schiff, K.C., M. Stevenson. 1996. <u>San Diego Regional Storm Water Monitoring Program:</u> <u>Contaminant inputs to coastal wetlands and bays</u>. *Bulletin of the Southern California Academy of Sciences* 95:7-16.

Sebastian, C., C. Becouze-Lareure, G. L. Kouyi and S. Barraud. 2015. <u>Event-based</u> <u>quantification of emerging pollutant removal for an open stormwater retention basin–Loads</u>, <u>efficiency and importance of uncertainties</u>. *Water research* **72**: 239-250

Sengupta, A., R.J. Hawley, E.D. Stein. 2018. <u>Predicting Hydromodification in Streams using</u> <u>Non-Linear Memory Based Algorithms. A Southern California case study</u>. *Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management* DOI:10.1061/(ASCE)WR.1943-5452.0000853.

Skinner, L., A. de Peyster, K.C. Schiff. 1999. <u>Developmental effects of urban storm water in</u> <u>Medaka (Oryzias latipes) and inland silverside (Menidia beryllina)</u>. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 37:227-235

Soller, J.A., M. Schoen, J.A. Steele, J.F. Griffith, K.C. Schiff. 2017. <u>Incidence of gastrointestinal</u> <u>illness following wet weather recreational exposures: Harmonization of quantitative microbial</u> <u>risk assessment with an epidemiologic investigation of surfers</u>. *Water Research* 121:280-289. Stein, E.D., V.K. Yoon. 2008. Dry weather flow contribution of metals, nutrients, and solids from natural catchments. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution* 190:183-195.

Stein, Eric D., L.L. Tiefenthaler, and K.C. Schiff. 2006. <u>Watershed-based sources of polycyclic</u> <u>aromatic hydrocarbons in urban storm water</u>. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 25:373-385.

Sutula, M., J.S. Brown, E. Fetscher, M. Mattson, S. Madon, G. Santolo, E. Byron, C. Stransky. 2008. <u>Habitat value and treatment effectiveness of freshwater urban wetlands</u>. Technical Report 559. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. Costa Mesa, CA.

Tiefenthaler, L., E.D. Stein, and K.C. Schiff. 2011. <u>Levels and patterns of fecal indicator bacteria</u> <u>in stormwater runoff from homogenous land use sites and urban watersheds</u>. *Journal of Water and Health* 9:279-290.

Tiefenthaler, L.L., E.D. Stein, and K.C. Schiff. 2008. <u>Watershed and land use-based sources of trace metals in urban stormwater</u>. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 27:277-287.

Yoon, V.K., E.D. Stein. 2008. <u>Natural catchments as sources of background levels of storm-</u> water metals, nutrients, and solids. *Journal of Environmental Engineering* 134:961-973.

Zeng, E.Y., C.L. Vista. 1997. Organic pollutants in the coastal environment off San Diego, California: Source identification and assessment by compositional indices of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 16:179-188.